FILED

Nov 14, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

93858.0

Court of Appeals No. 31563-1-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NOV 28 2016
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

MICHEAL ORREN GORSKI,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE YAKIMA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Ruth E. Reukauf, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUSAN MARIE GASCH
WSBA No. 16485
P. O. Box 30339
Spokane, WA 99223-3005
(509) 443-9149
Attorney for Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Michael Orren Gorski, is the appellant below and asks this Court to review the decision referred to in Section II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division III, unpublished opinion filed on September 13, 2016. The court denied Mr. Gorski's motion for reconsideration on October 13, 2016. Copies of the opinion and order are attached as Appendices A and B, respectively.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing Cecil Toney to be coached over defense counsel's objection and give altered testimony under the guise of ER 612, which prejudiced Mr. Gorski and requires a new trial.
- B. Whether the remaining evidence was insufficient to sustain the conviction for murder in the second degree as either a principal or an accomplice.
- C. Whether the requisite inquiry into ability to pay discretionary costs under *State v. Blazina* and discretionary costs of medical care and incarceration under *State v. Leonard* applies to defendants who had retained counsel at trial but were found indigent for purposes of pursuing appeal.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

¹ The current online version is found at *State v. Brugnone* (consolidated with *State v. Gorski*), No. 31529-1-III, 2016 WL 4921360 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 13, 2016).

Procedural background. On July 11, 2011, Michael Orren Gorski was charged by information with one count of second-degree murder, acting as a principal or an accomplice in the 1997 murder of Carolyn Clift. CP 1. Co-defendant Frank Brugnone was similarly charged. Brief of Appellant Brugnone, p. 3. Mr. Gorski's case was tried to a jury and Mr. Brugnone's case was simultaneously tried to the court. 1/17/13 RP 165.

In the State's opening statement, the jury was told:

... that Mr. Brugnone made several statements after being advised of his constitutional rights, including that he had gone to the apartment of Carolyn Clift, the victim, that there was hugging, that he remained a short period of time, that she screamed, that she went down, that he saw blood, that he said, I'm out of here. You'll have an opportunity to hear additional information about the statement made by the codefendant, Frank Eugene Brugnone.

1/29/13 RP 398. Although redaction to avoid *Bruton* issues was contemplated, the parties and court eventually agreed to present the codefendant's interview through a bifurcated proceeding.² The jury did not hear testimony about the contents of Mr. Brugnone's four-hour-long postarrest statement to police. 2/6/13 RP 1489–1522; 2/11/13 RP 1828–1923.

Testimony. At 11:19 pm on August 28, 1997, a resident of the Selah Square Apartments in Selah, Washington, called police to say she

² 8/10/12 RP 56–69; 10/29/12 RP 124; 11/2/12 RP 132–33; 1/24/13 RP 184–86; 1/25/13 RP 264–66, 272–74, 282; 2/4/13 RP 1065, 1133–39; 1141–42; 2/5/13 1265–74, 1281–1304; 2/6/13 RP 1485–86.

heard a scream and thought it was her neighbor, Carolyn Clift. 1/29/13 RP 438–40, 448–50. Responding officers arrived within minutes and entered the apartment. 1/29/13 RP 443, 450, 468–69. They found Ms. Clift lying dead on the floor. 1/29/13 RP 443–44, 453, 481.

An autopsy revealed Ms. Clift had four stab wounds through three wound entrances; one at the lower region of the left ribcage, another on the lower left chest, and one between the shoulder blades that had two wound paths from the same entrance. 1/30/13 RP 590. The wound to the back was unusual, requiring "a tremendous amount of force" to cut through the vertebrae. Dr. Selove, the forensic pathologist, stated the knife may have been pounded into the back to penetrate as far as it did. 1/30/13 RP 585, 591–94. He described defensive cut wounds on the left hand and minor bruising on her face, neck, and elbow. 1/30/13 RP 606-07. The pathologist estimated the time of death was probably 11:00 pm or earlier. 1/30/13 RP 647–648.

Officers interviewed neighbors in the apartment complex. 73-year-old neighbor Carolee Appleton said she did not see anyone going in or out of the apartment on the night of the homicide. 2/1/13 RP 948, 972–733. On September 10, 1998, a year later, Ms. Appleton told an officer that a month prior to the homicide she had seen two "kids" arrive in a blue

pickup truck. 2/1/13 RP 981–82. At that time Mr. Brugnone owned and drove an older blue pickup truck. 2/4/13 RP 1161; 2/6/13 RP 1313. Only one of them, the passenger, went into Ms. Clift's apartment. 2/1/13 RP 982. She again reported she did not see a vehicle or the "kids" the night of the murder. 2/1/13 RP 985.

On September 17, 1998, Ms. Appleton gave a third statement. 2/1/13 RP 987. She again reported that she did not see anyone on the night of the homicide, and again, that she had seen a person three weeks prior to the murder: a man driving a blue pickup truck dropped his friend off at the apartment. 2/1/13 RP 987–88. She described the individual who entered the apartment at that time as late 20s to 30 years old, with a butch type haircut. 2/1/13 RP 990, 1035. When he was leaving, she heard him say to the driver of the truck, "C'mon let's get out of here." 2/7/13 RP 1562. She believed she heard the same male voice on the night of the homicide. 2/1/13 RP 992, 1035.

Fifteen years later, at trial, Ms. Appleton denied some of the content of her earlier statements and noted that she did not remember things very well. 2/1/13 RP 990–92, 996, 1012. She testified that on the afternoon of the homicide, between 5:30 and 6:30 pm, she sat with Ms. Clift and another tenant at a picnic table. 2/1/13 RP 951. A man

approached the table and said, "I've come with dessert. I'm not taking her to dinner." He carried a bag wrapped around a bottle, and followed Ms. Clift into her apartment. 2/1/13 RP 952–53. Ms. Appleton said someone driving a blue truck had dropped off the man. 2/1/13 RP 954.

Later that night, Ms. Appleton thought she heard a man knock lightly on Ms. Clift's door between 1:30 and 2:30 am; he did not enter the apartment. 2/1/13 RP 963; 997. She heard him say, "It's taking too long. Come on. Hurry." 2/1/13 RP 962–63. The man then ran back to his truck and another man came running out of the apartment with a towel shielding his face. 2/1/13 RP 998.

that neighbor Lila Powell called her about 9:30 pm saying she heard screams. The witness did not remember telling police a different time.

Ms. Jones went to Ms. Clift's apartment and called out for her. When she did not get an answer, the two went into Ms. Powell's apartment. 1/31/13 RP 846, 848, 855–56, 867. Ms. Jones saw a man run by the door, with his head down, and something shielding his face. He was wearing an unbuttoned shirt, blue jeans, and was between 5'10" and 6' tall. 1/31/13 RP 849–51. He ran into Ms. Clift's apartment, turned around, and went back out. 1/31/13 RP 861–62. Then she heard the motor of a car start.

She saw a car, not a truck. She speculated there was another person in the car, but never saw anyone. 1/31/13 RP 863-64, 876.

Investigating officers collected a variety of items from inside Ms. Clift's apartment, including Marlboro cigarette butts that were located inside near the front door and a pair of eyeglasses from the living room.

1/29/13 RP 566–67. Officers did not recover a knife.

Officers contacted Mr. Gorski on September 2, 1997, and on September 4, 1997, he gave a taped interview. He also gave an un-taped interview on September 17, 1997. 1/31/13 RP 725–26. Mr. Gorski told police he had been at his former girlfriend Meghan Nunley's home until 10:30 or 11:00 pm the evening in question and then went home. At the time, he lived with Mr. Brugnone and Mr. Brugnone's wife. 1/30/13 RP 728–31; 1/31/13 RP 730; 2/1/13 RP 924.

On the evening of the murder, between 5:00 and 6:00 pm, Ms. Clift had gone to the local liquor store and purchased a bottle of whiskey.

1/30/13 RP 688, 690. She told the clerk she was excited because a boyfriend who had been in military was coming over for dinner. 1/30/13 RP 689, 701. Mr. Gorski entered and made a purchase. 1/30/13 RP 690–91. Ms. Clift and Mr. Gorski did not acknowledge one another in the

store, but after they left, the clerk saw Ms. Clift talking to Mr. Gorski near his car. 1/30/13 RP 692–94.

Later that evening, between 7:00 and 7:30 pm, Ms. Clift rented two movies from a video store. 2/4/13 RP 1102–06. A witness who arrived at the Wagon Wheel bar that evening around 7:30 or 7:45 pm., also recalled seeing Ms. Clift sitting at a table with two women and a man. 2/6/13 RP 1358–59. Sometime after 9:00 pm she saw Ms. Clift slumped against a hallway wall as a different man was speaking to her in a scolding tone. 2/6/13 RP 1363–66. She did not see Ms. Clift or the man again that evening. 2/6/13 RP 1368–69.

A witness remembered seeing Ms. Clift at the Wagon Wheel bar dancing by herself, after 9:00 pm that same evening. 2/1/13 RP 887–88. She left alone, before midnight. 2/1/13 RP 889, 896. He also saw Mr. Brugnone that evening, but not with Ms. Clift. 2/1/13 RP 893. He did not remember seeing Mr. Gorski. 2/1/13 RP 894.

Meghan Nunley, a former girlfriend of Mr. Gorski, testified she saw Mr. Gorski that afternoon at the Wagon Wheel. 2/1/13 RP 923–24, 928. She invited him to her home. She left the bar sometime between 7:00 and 7:15 pm. 2/1/13 RP 939–40. Mr. Gorski arrived at her home between 8:00 and 8:30 pm. He told her he was late because he had given a

woman a ride home from the liquor store. 2/1/13 RP 940–41, 944. He stayed until 10:00 or 10:30 pm. 2/1/13 RP 941.

Cecil Toney, Ms. Nunley's ex-husband, learned of the murder two days after it occurred but did not report it. 1/31/13 RP 773–74, 777–79, 806; 2/1/13 RP 927–28. Ten years after the 1997 murder, Toney gave information to police regarding the unsolved homicide. In his 2007 and 2011 interviews, Toney reported while taking a friend to the Selah Square Apartments the night before the murder, he saw Mr. Gorski and Mr. Brugnone duck down as his headlights shone on them as they stood in the parking lot between two cars. 1/31/13 RP 782–83, 800; 2/6/13 RP 1326.

On July 12, 2011, police arrested Mr. Gorski. 2/6/13 RP 1407–11, 1421. Mr. Gorski, 46-years-old at the time of the homicide, testified he was not with Mr. Brugnone on that day. 2/7/13 RP 1617, 1635. He saw Ms. Clift at the liquor store, gave her a ride home, and at her invitation, went inside her apartment. 2/7/13 RP 1591–96, 1603, 1654. They drank gin and smoked cigarettes. 2/7/13 RP 1603, 1663. As they sat on the sofa, they kissed and hugged. 2/7/13 RP 1606–08. He left her apartment between 7:30 and 7:40 pm and went to Ms. Nunley's home until 10:00 or 10:30 pm and then drove home. 2/7/13 RP 1609–10, 1613–14, 1658. He forgot his eyeglasses and cigarettes at the apartment. 2/7/13 RP 1610.

Subsequent DNA testing results on the cigarette butts and eyeglasses, as well as scrapings from Ms. Clift's fingernails, were found to be consistent with the DNA profile of Michael Gorski. 1/31/13 RP 732; 2/4/13 RP 1184–85, 1190–91, 1194–96; 1201–02.

During trial, Toney testified his sighting of Mr. Gorski and Mr. Brugnone in the parking lot occurred on the night of the murder rather than the night before as he had earlier told police. 1/31/13 RP 800, 840–41. He stated he told police he saw them between 12:00 and 12:30 am and the transcript of his interview verifies this. 1/31/13 RP 791, 843. On cross-examination, Toney changed his earlier testimony that he saw them between 11:00 pm and midnight, and testified he actually saw them between 12:00 and 12:30 am. 1/31/13 RP 780, 800.

Defense counsel objected³ to the State's proposal to have the witness review a police summary of his February 22, 2007, interview with Detective Chris Gray and then be re-examined about the timeframe.

1/31/13 RP 816– 24. Out of the presence of the jury, the State acknowledged and the court agreed Toney's testimony clearly gave the time as between 12:00 and 12:30 am. 1/31/13 RP 822. The witness had

³ Division Three incorrectly determined defense counsel made no objection and relied upon its misinterpretation in concluding the objection was waived. *Slip Opinion*, pp. 7–8.

not expressed any inability to recall the timeframe. Over objection, the court allowed the witness to look at the police summary, relying on ER 612. 1/31/13 RP 824–25. Despite the State's representation otherwise to the trial court, Det. Gray did not testify to the content of his summary and the summary was not admitted into evidence. 1/31/13 RP 717, 819–20; 2/6/13 RP 1325. After review, Toney changed his testimony on reexamination. He acknowledged the summary indicated he'd told police the time frame had to be between 11:00 pm and midnight and adopted that time frame as his testimony. 1/31/13 RP 834–43.

Mr. Gorski was found guilty of second degree murder, committed while armed with a deadly weapon. CP 802–03. At sentencing the court imposed restitution of \$3,694.21, discretionary costs of \$250 and mandatory costs of \$800, for a total Legal Financial Obligation (LFO) of \$4,744.21, and found Mr. Gorski had the means to pay the costs of incarceration and medical care. CP 821. The court did not inquire into Mr. Gorski's financial resources or consider the burden payment of LFOs would impose on him. 3/8/13 RP 2018–23. The court ordered Mr. Gorski to pay the costs and assessments within 180 days after his release at a monthly amount to be determined by the Yakima County Clerk. CP 822, ¶

4.D.7. The trial court found Mr. Gorski indigent for this appeal. (On file with the Court of Appeals)

V. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3) to resolve a conflict with decisions of this Court and the United States

Supreme Court and to determine a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions.

A. The trial court abused its discretion by allowing Cecil Toney to be coached over defense counsel's objection and give altered testimony under the guise of ER 612, which prejudiced Mr. Gorski and requires a new trial.

ER 612 governs the procedure for using a writing to refresh a witness's memory. A witness may use a writing to refresh his or her memory for the purpose of testifying if the adverse party has an opportunity to review the writing. The opposing party is entitled to cross-examine the witness from the writing and to introduce portions of it into evidence. ER 612.

The trial court must ensure that (1) the witness' memory needs refreshing, (2) opposing counsel has the right to examine the writing, and (3) the trial court is satisfied that the witness is not being coached. *State v. Little*, 57 Wn.2d 516, 521, 358 P.2d 120 (1961). The witness should first be questioned until his or her memory is exhausted and the witness

and Practice § 612.3 (5th ed.) (citing at fn. 2: *U.S. v. Morlang*, 531 F.2d 183 (4th Cir. 1975) and *State v. Huelett*, 92 Wn.2d 967, 603 P.2d 1258 (1979)). A witness is not "coached" if "the witness is using the notes to aid, and not to supplant, his own memory." *Little*, 57 Wn.2d at 521. "[A]n attorney, including a prosecutor, may not 'coach' a witness, i.e., urge a witness to create testimony, under the guise of refreshing the witness' recollection under ER 612. See *State v. Delarosa–Flores*, 59 Wn. App. 514, 517, 799 P.2d 736 (1990), *rev. denied*, 116 Wn.2d 1010, 805 P.2d 814 (1991); *see also* RPC 3.4 cmt. 1 ('Fair competition in the adversary system is secured by prohibitions against ... improperly influencing witnesses.')." *State v. McCreven*, 170 Wn. App. 444, 475, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). Abuse of discretion occurs if no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. *Huelett*, 92 Wn.2d at 969.

Here, ER 612's threshold requirement that the witness' memory needed refreshing was not met. Mr. Toney testified without hesitation his sighting of Mr. Gorski and Mr. Brugnone took place between 12:00 and 12:30 am and that his prior statement to police verified this time frame. 1/31/13 RP 791, 800, 843. The State and the court acknowledged his testimony was "solid" and "firm" as to this time frame. 1/31/13 RP 822.

Toney's memory was not "exhausted" and he did not indicate any need to refer to extrinsic writings. However, after being allowed over objection to review the reports, Toney acknowledged the police summaries indicated he'd told police the time frame had to be between 11:00 pm and midnight. Toney then adopted that time frame as his testimony. 1/31/13 RP 834–43. The trial court erred and abused its discretion in permitting Toney to be coached, after objection, by improperly reviewing the police summaries and to give altered testimony.

Toney's changed testimony was highly prejudicial. Dr. Selove, the forensic pathologist, estimated the time of death was probably 11:00 pm or earlier. 1/30/13 RP 647–648. The 911 call was made at 11:19 pm. 1/29/13 RP 506. Police responded within minutes, searched and cordoned off the apartment, parking lot and neighboring streets, and found no one in the immediate area. 1/29/13 RP 438, 462, 467–69. 483–85. Toney's original testimony and interview statement that he saw them in the parking lot between 12:00 and 12:30 am was the only eyewitness testimony placing Mr. Gorski and Mr. Brugnone anywhere near the victim's apartment. The timeframe is inconsistent with her death.

Despite the State's representation otherwise to the trial court, Det.

Gray did not testify to the content of his summary and the summary was

not admitted into evidence. 1/31/13 RP 717, 819–20; 2/6/13 RP 1325. Thus according to the State's untainted evidence, Toney was lying about having seen the two men. The remaining evidence was not overwhelmingly tipped in the State's favor and the jury may have reached a different conclusion. Instead, the witness was improperly allowed to adjust his testimony to present a timeframe that complemented and sealed the State's case. Mr. Gorski was prejudiced by the court's error and is entitled to a new trial.

B. The remaining evidence was insufficient to sustain the conviction for murder in the second degree as either a principal or an accomplice.

This Court should accept review because due process requires the State to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const., amendment 14; Wash. Const., article 1, § 3; *State v. Baeza*, 100 Wn.2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646 (1983); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1073, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). Sufficiency of the evidence for a conviction is a question of constitutional magnitude. RAP 13.4(b)(3). The Court of Appeals opinion affirming the conviction does not comport with due process as it rests on tainted and prejudicial inference rather than substantial evidence.

Mr. Gorski was charged with murder in the second degree. To sustain a conviction for murder in the second degree, the State was

required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant without premeditation intended to cause the death of another person and caused the death of such person. RCW 9A.32.050(1).

The State's evidence here cannot sustain a conviction as either a principal or an accomplice. There was no direct physical evidence establishing that Mr. Gorski committed or was a participant in the crime. The indirect untainted evidence, even taken in a light most favorable to the State, does not place Mr. Gorski at Ms. Clift's apartment at the time of commission of the murder.

Mr. Gorski acknowledged being in Ms. Clift's apartment earlier that evening, drinking gin and smoking cigarettes, kissing and making out. 2/7/13 RP 1591–96, 1603, 1606–08, 1654, 1663. The liquor store owner had seen them beforehand, when they bought alcohol sometime between 5:00 and 6:00 pm. 1/30/13 RP 688–89, 690–94, 701. Mr. Gorski left the apartment alone between 7:30 and 7:40 pm and went to Ms. Nunley's home until 10:00 or 10:30 pm and then drove home. 2/7/13 RP 1609–10, 1613–14, 1658. Ms. Nunley verified Mr. Gorski arrived at her house between 8:00 and 8:30 pm and stayed until 10:00 or 10:30 pm. 2/1/13 RP 940–41, 944.

Ms. Clift was seen alone between 7:00 and 7:30 pm as she rented two movies from a video store. 2/4/13 RP 1102–06. At the Wagon Wheel bar, two witnesses also saw Ms. Clift alive after Mr. Goski left her apartment. One witness saw Ms. Clift around 7:30 or 7:45 pm. and again sometime after 9:00 pm. 2/6/13 RP 1358–59, 1363–66, 1368–69. The second witness saw Ms. Clift dancing by herself, after 9:00 pm. 2/1/13 RP 887–88.

According to the evidence, Ms. Clift was seen alone and alive until sometime after 9:00 p.m. The pathologist estimated the time of death as 11:00 pm or earlier. 1/30/13 RP 647–648. The 911 call was made at 11:19 pm. 1/29/13 RP 506. Thus the murder must have occurred sometime after 9:00 pm and before 11:19 pm.

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