RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 27, 2016, 9:18 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93858-0

THE SUPREME COURT OF OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

V.

MICHAEL ORREN GORSKI, Appellant/Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY YAKIMA COUNTY

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 4846 Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

TA	BL	E OF CONTENTS PAGE	
TA	BL	E OF AUTHORITIES ii-iii	
A.	IN	TRODUCTION1	
	ISS	SUES PRESENTED BY PETITION	
	1.	Did the trial court abuse its discretion regarding the testimony of Mr. Toney.

A. INTRODUCTION.

This matter was tried to a jury in Superior court as one half of a joint trial with co-defendant Frank Eugene Brugnone, trial was to the bench. Brugnone also has a petition for review before this court, 93736-2. Both parties were found guilty and sentenced. They both timely filed direct appeals of their convictions. The Court of Appeals Division III upheld the convictions in a ruling filed on September 13, 2016.

ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

- A. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing Cecil Toney to be coached over defense counsel's objection and give altered testimony under the guise of ER 612, which prejudiced Mr. Gorski and requires a new trial.
- B. Whether the remaining evidence was insufficient to sustain the conviction for murder in the second degree as either a principal or an accomplice.
- C. Whether the requisite inquiry into ability to pay discretionary costs under State v. Blazina and discretionary costs of medical care and incarceration under State v. Leonard applies to defendants who had retained counsel at trial but were found indigent for purposes of pursuing appeal.

ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

- 1. Nothing in the Court of Appeals ruling regarding the testimony of Mr. Toney is subject to review under RAP 13.4. As is set out in detail by the Court of Appeals ruling, there was no error and even if there was it was not preserved.
- 2. The totality of the evidence presented to the jury in this trial, even Mr. Toney's testimony, is more than sufficient to uphold this conviction.

3. The Court of Appels had discretion to deny review of this issue. It chose to deny review, that was a proper use of the discretionary powers of that court. Further, the State has offered to waive the disputed costs.

Gorski petitions this court requesting review of the ruling by the Court of Appeals Division III denying the issues he raised on appeal.

He raises three issues as set forth above. The Court of Appeals ruled as follows on the allegations raised by Gorski;

- 1) Mr. Gorski initially argues it was error for prosecutor to refresh Toney's memory on redirect examination after Toney had changed his testimony on cross-examination concerning the time frame when he had seen the two men at the apartment complex. The claim of error was not preserved and also is without merit.
- 2) Mr. Gorski likewise challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support the conviction, arguing that he left the apartment complex near 7:30 p.m. and could not have committed the crime. The jury was free to conclude otherwise.
- 3) Mr. Gorski's final contention is a claim that the court erred in imposing LFOs without first determining his ability to pay them. We decline to consider this issue, which was not presented to the trial court.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State has set out the entire statement of the case, approximately twenty-five pages of facts and testimony from the trial court, that was set forth in the State's brief filed in the direct appeal in Appendix A. Further, the State has as needed set forth specific sections of the record in the body of this Answer.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

As with a direct appeal, acceptance of review of a case after review by the Court of Appeals is governed by RAP 13.4(b). This rule sets forth the manner and mechanism for review of a decision by the Court of Appeals terminating review.

Gorski claims that the ruling of the Court of Appeals runs afoul of sections (1) and (3). However, the ruling in Gorski's case does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP 13.4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review;

This case does not <u>1</u>) Conflict with any decision by this court; <u>2</u>)

This ruling does not conflict with any ruling by any other division of the Court of Appeals or for that matter any court; <u>3</u>) The ruling does not raise a significant question under either the State or Federal Constitution; the ruling merely reiterates the standard that has been applied for years <u>4</u>) The issues raise in this petition for review do not involve an issue of substantial public interest that this court should determine.

Testimony of Cecil Toney.

As was stated by the Court of Appeals regarding this allegation:

Mr. Gorski initially argues it was error for prosecutor to refresh Toney's memory on redirect examination after Toney had changed his testimony on cross-examination concerning the time frame when he had seen the two men at the apartment complex. The

claim of error was not preserved and also is without merit.

As the court points out in its opinion;

Moreover, the redirect examination was utterly harmless. Even after seeing his original remarks, Mr. Toney stuck with his answer to defense counsel that the incident occurred between 12:00 and 12:30 a.m. The reexamination did not change the witness's testimony in the least.

There was no error at all. This issue is without merit. (Slip at 8)

The alleged coaching resulted in absolutely nothing. Judge Korsmo's ruling addresses the error in Gorski's claim. As can be seen from Mr. Toney's testimony at the very end of his testimony, after all of the back and forth and questioning about whether he has observed the defendants at 11:00 or 12:00 his last statement regarding what time he observed the defendant was;

Q. By the way, looking again to line seven on that same page, you say again that you saw these two gentlemen between 12:00 and 12:30; is that true?

A. Yes, between 12:00 and 12:30, I believe. RP 843.

Initially throughout Gorski has claimed that this witness was "coached." This choice of wording is inflammatory and used just for that purpose. It is clear throughout this witness's testimony and the discussion of his testimony amongst the parties that the effort by the state was to refresh the witness's recollection not to "coach" him. This term implies

that the State was attempting to insert false information into this trial which is completely unfounded and is an egregious claim against the deputy prosecuting attorney who tried this case. There is nothing in the record which would suggest that this allegation was raised in the trial court.

If anything the alleged coaching would have been seen as adding doubt to this witness's testimony. Gorski's continued assertion that Toney "adopted that time frame as his testimony" completely ignores the record and as acknowledged by the Court of Appeals in its ruling.

Gorski's claim that "[t]he remaining evidence was not overwhelming" is ludicrous. The State set forth nearly twenty-five pages of facts in its opening brief in the direct appeal of this case. The State has appended those facts to this Answer in Appendix A.

B. Sufficiency of the evidence.

The claim that the facts do not support Gorski's conviction is without basis. This claim does not implicate either constitution. If the determination of the facts by a jury implicated a defendant's constitutional rights, then it would follow that each and every case should be reviewed by this court, clearly this is not the meaning of RAP 13.4.

This was a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence therefore, the Court of Appeals when it reviewed the case it viewed the evidence in a light most favorable to the State to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) (quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)).

Because Gorski is claiming insufficiency of the evidence he admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn in favor of the State, with circumstantial evidence and direct evidence considered equally reliable. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992); State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

The elements of a crime can be established by both direct and circumstantial evidence. State v. Brooks, 45 Wn. App. 824, 826, 727 P.2d 988 (1986). One is no less valuable than the other. There is sufficient evidence to support the conviction if a rational trier of fact could find each element of the crime proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Dejarlais, 88 Wash. App. 297, 305, 944 P.2d 1110 (1997), aff'd, 136 Wn.2d 939, 969 P.2d 90 (1998).

As was pointed out in the Court of Appeals ruling,

As also noted in the earlier discussion, the case

against Mr. Gorski was quite strong. Despite his protestation that he was not at the scene, DNA from his glasses and cigarette butts put him there, and he was seen leaving the apartment complex soon after the victim's screams alerted the neighbors. Ms. Clift's body showed several defensive wounds and Mr. Gorski's DNA was recovered from her fingernails. Like Mr. Brugnone, he lied to the police about his presence at the crime scene.

While Mr. Gorski's testimony conflicted with the State's theory of the case, the jury accepted the latter instead of the former. The evidence amply supported the determination that Gorski was the last person to see Ms. Clift alive and was undoubtedly the killer. It was sufficient. (Slip Opinion at 8-9)

Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). "It is axiomatic in criminal trials that the prosecution bears the burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the accused as the person who committed the offense." State v. Hill, 83 Wn.2d 558, 560, 520 P.2d 618 (1974).

Here the jury chose not to believe the story that Gorski presented them. They instead considered the overwhelming facts presented and found Gorski guilty.

Even if the court were to exclude the testimony of Mr. Toney the remaining facts were overwhelming.

The DNA evidence found at the scene and physically on the victim was on its own nearly overwhelming. In his testimony Gorski's did little

to nothing to explain how his DNA was found embedded underneath the fingernails of a dead woman. A woman he testified he had never met before until he grudgingly gave her a ride home from a liquor store, coincidentally on the day she was murdered. He testified that his DNA was found on the decedent because after being in her apartment for about twenty minutes she just starts kissing Gorski after which they began to mutually start to touch. Gorski testified that he stopped the victim after they started this mutual touching but the next thing he knew the victim was "crawling, mauling, kissing, hugging, pulling" at him. He stated it was not mutual. 2/7/13 RP 1608, 1660 Gorski said the victim unbuttoned his shirt and after a few minutes he grabbed his two bottles and just walked out her apartment. 2/7/13 RP 1608-9

Gorski's own testimony was such that it would appear to have readily assisted the State in its proof of this crime. When Gorski took the stand he was familiar with the case against him and had a reason for everything in the victim's apartment; his glasses - well he always took them off when he sat down, the cigarette butts - well he had asked for an ashtray but she had none so he put them in some top and they must have been dumped, the victim's DNA on one of the cigarette butts - this non-smoking victim took it from him as she had done this his bottle of alcohol. Gorski even attempted to counter the deceased's daughter's testimony that

her mother did not smoke, stating that he too thought that she was not a smoker because she was not as comfortable with the cigarette she took and smoked. This gave a reason for why an obvious non-smoker would even take his cigarette in the first place. Apparently "it just happened" which allowed for, explained why, the DNA from Gorski and the victim on the same item. Gorski had no, nor was there, a reasonable explanation for the number of cigarettes found if he was there for only twenty minutes before his fled in disgust from an apartment that he said appeared to be occupied by a hoarder and which smelled bad.

Obviously, the jury did not buy Gorski's story, <u>State v. Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not subject to review.

The facts presented to the jury were without a doubt sufficient to meet the test set forth in, <u>State v. Bucknell</u>, 183 P.3d 1078, 1080 (WA 2008);

In reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence challenge, the test is whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the jury's verdict, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 16 P.2d 628 (1980). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). The elements of a crime may be established by either direct or circumstantial evidence,

and one type is no more valuable than the other. State v. Thompson, 88 Wn.2d 13, 16, 558 P.2d 202, appeal dismissed, 434 U.S. 898 (1977). "Credibility determinations are within the sole province of the jury and are not subject to review." State v. Myers, 133 Wn.2d 26, 38, 941 P.2d 1102 (1997). Assessing discrepancies in trial testimony and the weighing of evidence are also within the sole province of the fact finder. State v. Longuskie, 59 Wn. App. 838, 844, 801 P.2d 1004 (1990). (Emphasis mine.)

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standards when it reviewed this case. None of the rulings by that court conflict with the edicts of either constitution as Gorski claims. The Court of Appeals review determined that the trial court had properly evaluated the evidence and the jury correctly found him guilty as charged.

The court of appeals decision does not need to be reviewed by this court under any portion of RAP 13.4. The court was emphatic in its ruling that there was sufficient evidence to convict both Gorski and Brugnone, the co-defendant.

This court should not accept review of this case. The actions of the trial court concerning Mr. Toney's testimony were correct and as importantly even if there was an error the remaining "untainted" evidence overwhelmingly supported the conviction of this defendant. Gorski has not demonstrated that the rulings of the Court of Appeals satisfies any portion of RAP 13.4.

C. Legal financial obligations.

Generally, an appellate court in this state will not consider a matter raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 826, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). An exception exists for claims of error that constitute manifest constitutional error. RAP 2.5(a)(3). If a cursory review of the alleged error suggests a constitutional issue, then the defendant bears the burden to show the error was manifest. State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). Error is "manifest" if the defendant shows that he was actually prejudiced by it. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-7, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Here, the error is not manifest because Gorski was not actually prejudiced when the fee was imposed.

The courts of appeal in this state, post <u>State v. Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), have steadfastly reviewed each case and made determinations regarding review on an individualized basis. Numerous cases from all three divisions of the Court of Appeals have both reversed and remanded cases, many have denied review and there have been numerous other methods used by these courts to address this issue.

In this instance the court after a complete review of the record determined to exercise its discretion;

In these circumstances, where there is no more than \$250 that possibly may be at issue, and where Mr. Gorski did not claim indigency until after sentencing, we exercise the discretion granted us under State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 830, 344 P.3d 680 (2015), and decline to consider this claim initially on appeal.

See, <u>State v. Clark</u>, 195 Wn. App. 868, 873-77, 381 P.3d 198 (2016) (holding that RAP 2.5(a)(2) does not require appellate courts to consider unpreserved LFO challenges).

Courts have held that statutes imposing mandatory financial obligations are not unconstitutional on their face. State v. Curry, 118

Wn.2d 911, 917, 829 P.2d 166 (1992) (crime victims penalty assessment);

State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. App. 420, 424, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013) (crime victims penalty assessment, DNA collection fee); State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 308 P.3d 755 (2013) (restitution, crime victims penalty assessment, DNA collection fee). Constitutional principles are only implicated if the State seeks to enforce the debt at a time when the defendant through no fault of his own is unable to comply. Curry, 118

Wn.2d at 917.

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